Skyland’s
Massanutten
Lodge, builtin.
1911 by Addie
Nairn Hunter,
* reflects the
resort’s rustic
architecture.
Hunter later
< married George
Freeman
Pollock;who
played a critical
roléin the
establishment
of Shenandoah
vNational Park in
the early 1920s.

Bill Faust, HAER,
1996.

Program initiated a major rehabili- and road beautification that blended the drive into its Many of the trees and

tation of Skyline Drive, replacing ast Wednesday surroundings and prevented road- shrubs were salvaged and trans- »This 1934
original guard walls and failed st time side soil erosion. Banks and cut e Wared planted from construction areas or ~ Photograph of
culverts. The new, and substan- ompleted the final crests were rounded, slopes flat- S o abandoned farmsteads within the ;;E;Vlli'g;n:"i
tially higher, guard walls are \gth of that tened, and the ends of cuts and fills e park. Vines, such as Virginia tions in the North
constructed of a concrete core warped to thoroughly integrate the Best, Civilan creeper, wild grape, American OD;?:";C(;RLVZ‘W

faced with cut stone from the
historic walls, laid in a random
pattern with prominent mortar
joints. Estimated rehabilitation

bittersweet, and clematis were s by

rooted in rock cuts and along guard  Controlled

ee,
P-2, Big Meadows
performed much of the road bank :
blending along the drive using power shovels to cut walls. Road banks and overlooks ~ Plasting ech-
niques mini-

back the slopes, then rounding them with hand labor. were planted in mountain laurel mized unsightly

new surfaces with the old. The CCC ?

costs exceeded $326,000 a mile. our heartiest con- Topsoil that had been stripped away and stored and other small shrubs, or seeded landscape scars
The cost of original stone guard gratulations to you during road construction was reapplied to the shoul- with grasses, ferns, annual and and conserved
walls averaged one dollar per and your ders and banks. The slopes were revegetated with perennial wild flowers. In devel- 2:?1?3:32 ZZZS
linear foot. department in so native plants in naturalistic planting patterns. oped areas, the addition of trees —
and shrubs provided proper
Lying Lightly on the Land » Skillfully crafted masonry work of native stone ~ r”b
NPS landscape architects work of natural frames the rock outcropping at Hazel Mountain f‘r‘“d i

s

art.’ Overlook in the park’s Central District. This

e stone masonry characterizes the drive’s drop
inlets, tree wells and fountains.

Wirth, HAER

drew upon the naturalistic land-
scape gardening practices of the
1920s, and their own previous
experience in western parks as
they designed Skyline Drive to lie
lightly along the crest of the Blue
Ridge Mountains. This was accomplished through
an extensive program of landscape naturalization
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<« Skyline Drive
was an immediate
success, as this
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Marys Rock
Tunnel Overlook 1933 1934
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plan the junction of Ridge Parkway in
the proposed Blue North Carolina
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Skyline Drive.

visual aesthetics. Planted meadows and open bays
varied the forest outline along the roadside, while
artificially trimmed vistas opened spectacular views
from the drive and overlooks.

Skyline Drive Today

While technically not a parkway, the 105.5
mile, paved, two lane Skyline Drive displays ele-
ments standard to that road type (limited access, non-
commercial recreational traffic, access to adjoining
recreational facilities, and exclusion of commercial
development along the right-of-way).
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Roosevelt dedicates
ndoah

| Park at Big

ng the drives between
5 part of the Emergency

WK program in

The roadway’s graceful curvilinear design preserves
the natural topography while presenting the
landscape’s scenic values.

One of the nation’s most heavily traveled
recreational roads since it opened in 1934, Skyline
Drive continues to serve the 2 million visitors who
come to Shenandoah National Park each year. But
the road is significant for more than it’s function as
the park’s principle transportation corridor, or the
outstanding scenery it offers. As a designed land-
scape, the drive was integral in the evolution of
national park road and parkway design. Finally, the
drive offered work and hope to thousands of Ameri-
cans in the midst of the Great Depression, as part of
the federal government’s drought relief and New
Deal programs. Despite changes in mountain vegeta-
tion, air pollution, automobiles, and slight roadway
and park modifications, visitors today experience
Skyline Drive much as motorists did in 1939, when
they drove from Front Royal to Jarman Gap, and on
through to Rockfish Gap for the first time.

opened at Pinnacles (mile 2
South River (mile 62.6) in 1935.
Pinnacles' distinctive log shelter was
built by the CCC.

Bill Faust, HAER, 1996
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Developed areas
open at Dickey
Ridge, Elkwallow
and Big Meadows

Construction begins
on the final section
between Black Rock
and Jarman gaps
and by year end the

Skyline Drive was docu-
mented in 1996-97 by the Historic
American Engineering Record
(HAER), a division of the National
Park Service, U.S. Department of
the Interior,as part of a long-range < “,:a(n valley
program to document historically 37 e 2=
significant engineering and indus-
trial works in the United States.

The 1996 Skyline Drive, Shenandoah National Park
Roads and Bridges Recording Project was sponsored
by the NPS Roads and Bridges Program,
Shenandoah National Park, and lowa State
University’s Department of Landscape Architecture.
Funding was provided by the Federal Highway
Administration’s Federal Lands Highway Olffice,
through the NPS Park Roads and Parkways Pro-
gram. This brochure was produced in cooperation
with the HABS/HAER Foundation.
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Bill Faust, HAER
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A Scenic overlooks and vistas at
frequent intervals are integral and
essential apects of Skyline Drives
design, offering visitors to

from 9710 105.5  Shenandoah a sequential panorama
of scenery.
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interchange and Bill Faust, HAER, 1996
entrance station are
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The Historic
American Engineer-
a major ing Record (HAER)
documents Skyline
Drive.
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listed

Highways in Harmony

.

Shenandoah
National Park

SHYLINE
DRIVE

SHENANDOAH'S
MOUNTAINTOP
MOTORWAY

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE




Skyline Drive has afforded motorists in
Shenandoah National Park sweeping views of
Virginia’s Blue Ridge Mountains, Shenandoah
Valley and eastern Piedmont since its
first section opened to the public in
September 1934. These panoramas
are a defining element of the graceful
park road’s naturalistic design. The
drive’s function as the backbone of the
park’s circulation system provides
automobile access to the park’s camp-
grounds, picnic areas, back- country
and Appalachian Trail heads. One of
the most popular recreational roads in
the eastern United States, Skyline
Drive is an excellent example of the
National Park Service’s (NPS) natu-
ralistic road building program of the
1920s and 1930s.
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Between the establishment of Yellowstone as
the country’s first national park in 1872, and the
creation of the National Park service in 1916,
national parks remained a phenomenon of the Ameri-
can West. Carved out of land in the public domain,
the parks were located west of the Mississippi
River, far from the country’s eastern population
centers. Recognizing this imbalance, the Park
Service’s first director, Stephen T. Mather, pushed
for the creation of parks in the east. In 1919 Acadia
National Park became the first eastern national park.
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Its remote location on the coast of Maine, however,
placed it beyond the reach of most Americans.

At Mather’s urging, the Secretary of the
Interior appointed a committee to investigate park
locations in the Southern Appalachian mountains. In
December 1924, the Southern Appalachian National
Park Committee recommended the Virginia Blue
Ridge as its first choice for a park site, noting that it
lay within a 3-hour drive of the nation’s capital and
within a day’s drive of 40 million Americans. In 1926
Congress authorized the establishment of Shenandoah
National Park (along with two sister parks, Great
Smoky Mountains and Mammoth Cave).

Unlike the western national parks which were
created from federal lands, Shenandoah was as-
sembled from numerous tracts of private property.
Since Congress did not appropriate funds for the
acquisition of national park land, the Commonwealth
of Virginia spent a decade acquiring the park’s
original 176,429 acres, mostly through blanket con-
demnation. Virginia presented the property as a gift
to the U.S. Government, which approved the park in
December 1935.

\utomobile Tourist

Skyline Drive was among the first mountain
road building projects undertaken by the NPS in the
East. The concept of a scenic ridge drive was sug-
gested by the Southern Appalachian National Park
Committee in 1924, when it noted that "the greatest
single feature [of the proposed park] ... is a possible
sky-line drive along the mountain top,
following a continuous
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ridge and looking down westerly on
the Shenandoah Valley ... and also
commanding a view of the

Piedmont Plain stretching easterly to
the Washington Monument."

The committee recognized
the proliferation of the automobile
and its increasing use as a recre-
ational vehicle. By 1929, over 23
million passenger cars were regis-
tered in the U.S., making the auto-
mobile one of the most significant
social and technological changes of
the period. Federal, state and local
officials realized that the proposed
Shenandoah National Park would,
by necessity, be a park for the
automobile tourist. As Charles E.

Peterson, head of the NPS Eastern

Division, Branch of Plans and

Design in the 1930s, recalled, “[t]he

overall idea was that motorists should be able to drive
out of Washington for a Sunday’s mountain experience
and get back home by night.”

Construction of Skyline Drive predated the
dedication of the park by five years. Work began in
1931, when President Hoover (a staunch advocate of
the road) authorized drought relief funds to finance the
task. From 1933 until its completion in 1939, the job
continued as a Depression Era work relief project
under the Roosevelt Administration’s New Deal.
President Roosevelt followed the progress in
Shenandoah as avidly as his predecessor had, ensuring
that the Public Works Administration (PWA), Works
Progress Administration (WPA), and Civilian Conser-

.vation Corps (CCC) allocated funds and manpower for

construction, beautification, and development of the
road and park.

Skyline Drive was an instant success. Each of
the road’s three sections opened—in 1934 (Central
District), 1936 (North District) and 1939 (South Dis-
trict—to enormous numbers of motorists.

Center is typical of the

1ilt in Shenandoah and other
1 the 1930s. Erected by the park
iire in 1938, it served as a dining hall for
cabin development. Closed during WWII
ver reopened, it was converted into a
visitor’s center in 1958.
-Robert Harvey, HAER, 1996.

As a result of the drive's poplarity, newly
established Shenandoah led all National Park
units in yearly visitation by 1937, becoming
the first national park to attract one million
visitors.

A Joint Agreement
Creates Partnership

Skyline Drive was built under an interagency
agreement between the National Park Service and the
Bureau of Public Roads (BPR). This partnership,
formalized in 1926, had been forged and perfected on
western park road building projects. BPR engineers
provided the technical expertise and construction
management, while NPS landscape architects
provided naturalistic design knowledge and
exercised final review. NPS designers and engineers
adapted mountain drive standards from western parks
to the gentler topography of the east, coupling this
with the design principles established
on the suburban parkways of New
York’s Westchester County earlier in
the century.

The BPR contracted private
construction firms to build the road,
according to detailed plans and
specifications prepared by BPR
engineers and NPS landscape
architects.

» Popular Marys Rock Tunnel (mile
32.4) demonsirated one of the more
spectacular elements of NPS and BPR
mountain road building design, and
prevented an unsightly scar on the
nside.

anning, HAER, 1996.

Most of the construction jobs were filled by local
labor in accordance with Depression era federal
relief programs. Some work, such as road mainte-
nance, guard wall construction, and slope flattening,
was performed by government day labor forces
working for the BPR, or by the Civilian Conserva-
tion Corps (CCC). Itis estimated that more than four

thousand laborers worked to construct Skyline Drive.

Built in the midst of the Great
Depression, the project was largely
funded by the PWA. By 1940, the
estimated cost of the drive’s original
97 miles between Front Royal and
Jarman Gap was over 4.5 million
dollars; approximately $47,000 per
mile.

Road Construction
The road was built in three
sections during the 1930s. Work
first began on the central section,
from Thornton Gap to Swift Run
Gap, in July 1931. This stretch
opened to long lines of motorists
on Sept 15, 1934. The north
section (Thornton Gap to Front
Royal) opened two years later on
Oct 1, 1936. The south section
(Swift Run Gap to Jarman Gap),
opened on Sept 29, 1939. A fourth
segment (Jarman Gap to Rockfish
Gap) was originally constructed as
part of the Blue Ridge Parkway and transferred to
Shenandoah National Park in 1961.

Roadway excavation and grading began
after the Skyline planners surveyed the route,
prepared plans, and acquired the right-of-way.
Constructed by a method of side-hill cut and fill, the
roadway lay on a shelf carved out of, or built onto
the mountain-side. This technique was mastered in
western mountain parks like
Yellowstone, and became a standard
procedure for building National Park
roads. Rock and soil excavated in
cuts were used to build up fill areas.

Controlled blasting techniques
minimized unsightly landscape scars
and conserved stone

for other uses in construction.

The roadway was constructed with a base of
six to eight inches of crushed stone, supporting an
asphalt surface, coated with a waterproof seal. Park-
ing overlooks and entrance roads to the park’s devel-
oped areas were treated in similar ways.

Native stone was used in all the masonry
work along the drive, such as retaining walls, hand
laid rock embankments, drop inlets, culvert head
walls, gutters, tree wells, drinking fountains, and
guard walls. The rock came from roadway excava-
tions or carefully selected quarry sites within the park
or just outside its boundaries.

Skyline Drive originally featured 18 inch
high, stone guard walls along steep stretches of the
roadway. In 1983, the Federal Lands Highway (continue

on other side)
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